

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Journal of Hazardous Materials

Journal of Hazardous Materials 151 (2008) 289-305

www.elsevier.com/locate/jhazmat

Advances in science and technology of modern energetic materials: An overview

Review

D.M. Badgujar^{a,*}, M.B. Talawar^b, S.N. Asthana^b, P.P. Mahulikar^{a,*}

^a School of Chemical Sciences, North Maharashtra University, Jalgaon 425001 (M.S.), India ^b High Energy Material Research Laboratory, Pune 41102 (M.S.), India

Received 5 August 2007; received in revised form 4 October 2007; accepted 10 October 2007 Available online 18 October 2007

Abstract

Energetic materials such as explosives, propellants and pyrotechnics are widely used for both civilian and military explosives applications. The present review focuses briefly on the synthesis aspects and some of the physico-chemical properties of energetic materials of the class: (a) aminopyridine-*N*-oxides, (b) energetic azides, (c) high nitrogen content energetic materials, (d) imidazoles, (e) insensitive energetic materials, (f) oxidizers, (g) nitramines, (h) nitrate esters and (i) thermally stable explosives. A brief comment is also made on the emerging nitration concepts. This paper also reviews work done on primary explosives of current and futuristic interest based on energetic co-ordination compounds. Lead-free co-ordination compounds are the candidates of tomorrow's choice in view of their additional advantage of being eco-friendly. Another desirable attribute of lead free class of energetic compounds is the presence of almost equivalent quantity of fuel and oxidizer moieties. These compounds may find wide spectrum of futuristic applications in the area of energetic materials. The over all aim of the high energy materials research community is to develop the more powerful energetic materials/explosive formulations/propellant formulations in comparison to currently known benchmark materials/compositions. Therefore, an attempt is also made to highlight the important contributions made by the various researchers in the frontier areas energetic ballistic modifiers, energetic binders and energetic plasticizers. © 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Energetic materials; Initiators; Ballistic modifiers; Energetic binders; Plasticizers

Contents

1.	Introduction	290
2.	Aminonitro heterocyclic <i>N</i> -oxides: promising high energy materials	290
3.	Azides: potential energetic materials	291
	3.1. Explosive properties of azide containing energetic materials	291
4.	High nitrogen content high energy materials: potential green additives for rocket propellants	292
5.	Imidazole based high energy materials	292
6.	Insensitive high explosives (IHEs)	292
7.	Energetic oxidizers	293
8.	Nitramines: potential energetic materials	295
	8.1. HMX [octogen; octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine]	295
	8.2. 1,3,3-Trinitroazetidine (TNAZ)	295
	8.3. CL-20/HNIW	296
9.	Octanitrocubane	296
10.	Nitrate esters	296
11.	Thermally stable explosives	297

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +91 257 2258419; fax: +91 257 2258403. *E-mail addresses*: dmbadgujar@rediffmail.com (D.M. Badgujar), mahulikarpp@rediffmail.com (P.P. Mahulikar).

^{0304-3894/\$ –} see front matter © 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.10.039

12.	Emerging nitration concepts	298
13.	Primary explosives	298
14.	Energetic ballistics modifiers	300
15.	Energetic binders	300
16.	Plasticizers	301
17.	Conclusions	302
	Acknowledgement	302
	References	302

1. Introduction

Energetic materials are generally organic compounds containing nitro, azide and hydrazino groups in the molecules [1]. When explosive materials undergo decomposition, they produce energy by a process called oxidation. During the oxidation reaction, an explosive is detonated with sudden release of energy or a fuel is burnt. The oxidation reaction produces heat because the internal energy of reactant molecule is higher than that of the end product. The difference between the internal energies of reactant and product of a reaction is called heat of reaction. When an explosive material detonates to form gaseous products, the heat of reaction is called heat of explosion. Most of the explosives consist of elements of carbon, hydrogen, oxygen and nitrogen. The highest oxidation state of carbon, when burnt in oxygen, is CO_2 and that of hydrogen is H_2O . The molecular nitrogen is at a lower state of internal energy than the oxides of nitrogen (NO, NO₂, N₂O₃, etc.). Therefore, any nitrogen in the reactant is given out as N_2 gas in the end. The $-NO_2$ and -ONO₂ groups are the major source of oxygen in the energetic molecules, which contribute significantly to the detonation or combustion processes.

The search for the promising high-energy materials during the last one decade has led to the discovery of a vast number of energetic oxidizers, fuels and explosives for their possible use as an energetic ingredient in propellants/explosives formulations. Exploitation of structure property relationships, coupled with the use of computer codes to predict the energetic properties from molecular structure, has led to the development of new energetic materials with increased performance, reduced sensitivity to external stimuli and or enhanced chemical and thermal stability.

The other important properties which decide the fate of newly synthesized energetic material for its application in propellant and explosive formulations are its chemical compatibility with other ingredients in the formulation, less toxicity, stable physical form and ease of its handling. All these mentioned properties are compared with the properties of known benchmark energetic materials which are currently in use in propellant or explosive formulations. High energy materials (HEMs) research area received less attention from the energetic materials chemists/technologists/scientists in the past. This may be attributed to the risks and hazards associated with the research investigations.

There has been reasonable progress in the synthesis and development of new energetic compounds in recent years. These compounds include nitro compounds based on nitrate esters, nitramines, azido compounds, azido nitrates, azido nitramines, difluoro nitramines, polycyclic compounds, furazans (1,2,5oxadiazoles) and furoxans (1,2,5-oxadiazole-N-oxides). The other category of nitro compounds emerging as key ingredients for propellant and explosive formulations are tetrazoles, triazines, tetrazines, co-ordination compounds of metallic salts of hydrazines, carbohydrazines and polymeric binders containing azo, nitro, nitroxy groups in the backbones. More recently attention has been paid to replace hydroxyl terminated polybutadiene with nitrated hydroxyl terminated polybutadiene (NHTPB) to achieve higher energetics. New requirements such as reduction of the vulnerability of combat platforms, stealth characteristics, and increased demand to achieve higher energetics in terms of specific impulse and performance coupled with environmental issues have forced the researchers to produce novel energetic materials [2–6]. To develop a new energetic material, it is essential to consider the factors such as indigenous availability of starting materials, ease of its preparation, purity of energetic material and its cost effectiveness. In the following pages a brief account on the specific class of energetic materials is given.

2. Aminonitro heterocyclic *N*-oxides: promising high energy materials

The amino/aminonitro heterocycles may be effectively used as precursors for the synthesis of new energetic material/s. Several heterocyclic compounds bearing nitro, amino and *N*-oxide substituents have been studied as possible replacement for the insensitive explosives, viz., trinitrotriaminobenzenes (TATB) and nitrotriazolone (NTO). The potential use of nitro derivatives of pyridines, pyrimidines, pyrazines and their bicyclic analogues has been reported [7] for the synthesis of novel insensitive explosives.

2,5-Diamino-3,6-dinitropyrazine (ANPZ-i) has been synthesized by the nitration of 2,5-diethoxypyrazine using nitronium tetrafluoroborate in sulfolane and subsequent amination under autoclave conditions. The theoretically predicated performance of 2,5-diamino-3,6-dinitropyrazine is in par with hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX). The performance and insensitivity characteristic properties of ANPZ-i indicates its potential use in futuristic insensitive explosive formulations [8].

Ritter and Licht [9] reported the synthesis of 2,6-diamino-3,5-dinitropyridine-1-oxide (ANPyO) by the nitration of 2,6-diamino-3,5-dinitropyridine (ANPy) followed by oxidation using acetic acid and 30% H₂O₂. It is reported that, 2,6-diamino-3,5-dinitropyridine-1-oxide exhibits a density of 1.878 g/ml with melting point of >340 °C. The extensive performance

Table 1 Properties of some nitropyridine and their *N*-oxides and their comparison with 2.4.6-trinitrobenzene

Compound	TNPy (I)	TNPyOx (II)	DazNPyOx (III)	TNB
O.B. (%)	-37.4	-27.8	-57.6	-56.3
VOD (m/s)	8161	8369	8532	7277
Impact sensitivity (Nm) Friction sensitivity (kp)	4.5–6.5 >36	1.5–3.0 16	<1.5 10	7.5 >36

TNPy: 2,4,6-trinitropyridine; TNPyOx: 2,4,6-trinitropyridine-*N*-oxide; DazN-PyOX: 2,6-diazido-4-nitro-pyridine-*N*-oxide; TNB: 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene.

evaluation needs to be carried out on ANPyO to prove its usefulness in explosive applications. Hollins et al. reported [10,11] the synthesis of 2,4,6-triamino-3,5-dinitropyridine-*N*-oxide by the amination of 2,6-diamino-3,5-dinitropyridine-1-oxide with hydroxylamine in aqueous potassium hydroxide. Pagoria et al. [12] reported the synthesis of 2,6-diamino-3,5-dinitropyrazine-1-oxide (LLM-105) by reacting 2,6-dichloropyrazine with sodium methoxide followed by nitration and oxidation [13]. The compound LLM-105 exhibits a density of 1.918 g/ml [14] and decomposition temperature of 354 °C.

Liu et al. [15] reported the synthesis of 3,5-dinitro-2picrylaminopyridine by condensing one mole of picryl chloride with 2,6-diaminopyridine followed by nitration using fuming nitric acid. Wang et al. [16,17] reported the studies on 2,6bis(picrylamino)-3,5-dinitro pyridine (PYX). It is reported that PYX may be used as potential heat resistant explosive in drilling oil wells and in plastic bonded explosive formulations. Some of the energetic properties of nitropyridine derivatives (I–III) in comparison to 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene are given in Table 1.



It is reported [18] that 2,4,6-trinitropyridine shows a very good thermal stability, satisfying chemical stability, favorable oxygen balance and very good density. The insertion of picryl moiety in the pyridine ring may enhance the thermal stability and performance of the parent compound and the introduction of the alternate amino and nitro group in the pyridine ring or in aromatic ring system may also increases the insensitivity of the parent molecule. It is also reported that the incorporation of nitro group/s on phenyl substituent increases density, thermal stability and the energetic performance of the parent heterocyclic moiety. Further increase in density and the thermal stability of the parent compound could be achieved by converting the tertiary amines into their corresponding N-oxide functionality. The N-O bond of a tertiary N-oxide possesses significant double bond character due to π bond formation. The formation of a heterocyclic N-oxide also changes the charge distribution of the heterocyclic ring. This may further increases in the aromaticity (over all stability) of the heterocyclic ring system [19]. The introduction of *N*-oxide functionality also increases the oxygen balance and allows better crystal packing.

3. Azides: potential energetic materials

The use of energetic additives in the propellant formulations in place of conventional non-energetic additives certainly enhances the performance level of solid propellant and gun propellant formulations [20]. In this aspect organic azides are attracting researcher's attention more recently. The possible use of energetic azides in propellant formulations reduces the amount of flame and smoke in the exhaust gases, thus making the propellant formulations more eco-friendly. During the past two decades a large number of organic azides have been reported in the literature. Compounds from this category include azidopolyethers, azidonitramines, azidonitro compounds, azidoalkanes and azidoesters. Most of the currently used solid-rocket fuels are still based on mixtures of ammonium perchlorate, aluminium and epoxy resins, which produces hydrochloric acid (HCl) and aluminium oxides during combustion. Therefore ammonium perchlorate based propellant formulations are not considered as green propellants.

3.1. Explosive properties of azide containing energetic materials

In the view of the explosive and toxic nature of hydrazoic acid and its derivatives it is pertinent to discuss the hazards associated in handling azides. It is well known that azides easily undergo decomposition in presence of heat, mechanical shock or exposure to certain chemical reagents. The decomposition process of azides normally accompanied by the release of large amounts of energy release with the formation nitrogen molecule. The highly sensitive azides are prepared in situ in the solvent and are utilized immediately for their use in the synthesis of high energy materials. In this context it has been suggested that a threshold value is given by the ratio of (C + O)/N and that a violent decomposition of azide may occur when this ratio is lower than 3:1. Organic azides have been extensively investigated for primary and secondary explosive applications. The extensive care must be exercised while handling the low molecular weight azide compounds. The low molecular weight azide compounds are highly treacherous and the explosions may occur for unknown reasons during handling.

The substitution of hydrogen by energetic azido $(-N_3)$ group in organic molecules results in the formation of energetic azido plasticizers and polymers. Organic azides possesses high density, high positive heat of formation, good thermal and hydrolytic stability, lower impact sensitivity, high burning rate and gives reduced flash. Some of the potential azido compounds of high energy materials interest are bis(azidomethyl)oxetane, azidomethyl methyl oxetane, 1,3-diazido-2-nitrazapropane (DANP), 1,5-diazido-2,4-dinitrazapentane (DADZP), 1,7-diazido-2,4,6-trinitrazaheptane (DATH) [21–29]. Table 2 summarizes the properties of some of the potential azido compounds.

Table 2 Properties of azides compounds

Compound	Melting point (°C)	ρ (g/cm ³)	Oxygen balance (%)	Energy (J/g)
DANP	-8	1.43	-37.2	6670
DADZP	80	1.70	-32.5	6412
DATH	136	1.71	-30.0	5873
Pr NENEA	-2	1.26	-87	3672

DANP: 1,3-diazido-2-nitrazapropane; DADZP: 1,5-diazido-2,4dinitrazapentane; DATH: 1,7-diazido-2,4,6 trinitrazaheptane; Pr NENEA: *n*-propyl azidoethyl nitramine.

4. High nitrogen content high energy materials: potential green additives for rocket propellants

The synthesis of high nitrogen content high energetic materials has been in the focus for the last two decades [30–35]. High nitrogen content (HNC) materials form a unique class of novel energetic materials, deriving most of their energy from their very high positive heat of formation rather than from the oxidation of the carbon backbone as is the case with conventional energetic materials. Polynitrogen compounds is another upcoming area for the high performance high density green energetic materials. Recently, Talawar et al. [36] have extensively reviewed on the possibilities and opportunities exist in the area of synthesis of polynitrogen compounds for their potential high energy materials applications.

The high nitrogen content in the molecule enhances the density and leads to generation of large quantity of gas per gram. One of the unique, reported energetic materials of this series is diamino azobis tetrazine (DAAT) having highest positive heat of formation (about +800 kJ/mol) among the reported high nitrogen content energetic materials. This compound also shows remarkable insensitivity towards external stimuli with the theoretical performance level exceeding that of the currently used powerful military explosives such as hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX).

Sivalaban et al. [37] have reported the synthesis, characterization and thermolysis studies of a series of azotetrazolate salts, viz., ammonium/guanidinium/triaminoguanidinium [azotetrazolate]. Thermal analysis studies on these compounds indicate the highest heat release (2804 J/g) for guanidinium azotetrazolate salt during its exothermic decomposition. The sensitivity data reported by the authors suggests low vulnerability of ammonium and guanidinium salts. Triaminoguanidinium azotetrazolate (TAGAZ) was incorporated into solid propellant formulations in order to establish the compatibility of this class of compounds. The burning rate data obtained indicated that triaminoguanidinium azotetrazolate acts as an efficient energetic additive in composite modified double base (CMDB) propellant formulations in high-pressure region.

5. Imidazole based high energy materials

Imidazole derivatives with more than two nitro groups are expected to be potential energetic ingredients for insensitive explosive formulations. 2,4-Dinitroimidazole (DNI) is much less sensitive than hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) and octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine (HMX) and it is reported that 2,4-dinitroimidazole may be more energetic than 1,3,5-triamino-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene (TATB). The cost of production of 2,4-dinitroimidazole appears to be less expensive.

Various nitroimidazole derivatives (IV–VIII) including 2,4-dinitroimidazole [38] 4,5-dinitroimidazole [39] 2,4,5-trinitroimidazole [40,41] and 4,4',5,5'-tetranitro-2,2'benziimidazole [42] have been investigated. One of the problems associated with these molecules is their chemical stability. The hydrogen attached to first position, of the ring is known to be quite acidic [43] and may interfere with some of the other generally used ingredients in the explosive or propellant formulations. The nitration of first position in imidazole gives 1,4-dinitroimidazole which undergoes isomerization on heating to form 2,4-dinitroimidazole [44,45].



dinitroimidazole (2,4-DNI) and found it highly promising for high energy materials application. The exhaustive literature survey indicates that *N*-methyl, *N*-esters and *N*-picryl derivatives of the 2,4,5-trinitroimidazole for energetic materials application. It is well known that the insertion of picryl group in an organic compound increases the density while incorporation of hydrocarbon chain increases the thermal stability. Table 3 illustrates the properties of some potential polynitroimidazole derivatives for high energy materials applications.

6. Insensitive high explosives (IHEs)

One of the approaches used to synthesize insensitive high explosives is to basically incorporate maximum possible percentage of nitrogen into energetic materials. The insensitivity is achieved basically (i) use of nitrogen rich heterocycle/s or its *N*-oxide as key synthons for the synthesis of IHE's. (ii) Introduction of nitro and amino groups in the ring *ortho* to each other. The formation of hydrogen bond formation between two groups increases the stability of the molecule. There are also reports that insertion of picryl moiety in the ring not only increases the insensitivity as well as thermal stability of the molecule.

An ideal explosive is one, having high performance, but insensitive enough to handle during its use, storage and transport. Most common explosives such as 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT), hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) and octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine (HMX) are used as key energetic ingredients for different weapons applications. The current and futuristic research on high energy materials focuses mainly on the development of new energetic ingredients and energetic formulations, which are better than the above mentioned conventional energetic materials [47].

-					
Compound	Molecular formula	Density (g/cm ³)	Oxygen balance (%)	Detonation velocity (km/s)	Detonation pressure (GPa)
MTNI	C ₄ H ₃ N ₅ O ₆	1.78	-25.76	8.80	34.66
CTNII	C ₇ H ₇ N ₅ O ₈	1.63	-58.28	7.61	23.78
PTNI	$C_9H_2N_8O_{12}$	1.91	-27.05	8.41	33.91

 Table 3

 Properties of some polynitroimidazole derivatives

MTNI: 1-methyl-2,4,5-trinitroimidazole; CTNII: 1-carboxy-2,4,5-trinitroiodoimidazole; PTNI: 1-picryl-2,4,6-trinitroimidazole.

The development of these classes of explosives have led to the reduction of quantity distances between storage sites, decrease the battle field vulnerability of armoured vehicles, personnel and increased capacity to carry a large quantity of ordnance. A series of new explosives have been developed with promising blend of insensitivity and performance and thermal stability [48]. 2,4,6-Triamino-1,3,5-trinitrobenzene (TATB) is the most important insensitive high explosive of this series which may be used in modern warheads. Its attributes are greater thermal, physical and shock stability, which are greater than that of any other known material of comparable energy [49]. The development of TATB is one of the most remarkable contributions of scientist/technologists working in the field of energetic materials. The TATB based insensitive high explosive formulations significantly improve the safety and survivability of munitions, weapons, and personnel in the vicinity.



1,3,5-Triamino-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene (TATB) was first reported in 1888 by Jackson and Wing [50]. TATB can be readily synthesized from aniline and has qualified as a heat resistant insensitive explosive. The unique structure of 1,3,5-triamino-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene confirms its properties, which include high density and extreme insensitiveness to impact and shock. The introduction of the amino group in these molecules adds sufficient energy to the crystal lattice and increases the melting point. The initial decomposition mechanism of 1-amino-2,4,6trinitrobenzene (MATB) and 1,3-diamino-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene (DATB) and 1,3,5-triamino-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene (TATB) below 500 °C is more complicated, since a $-NH_2$ group *ortho* to $-NO_2$, in the ring, may undergo cyclization on heating to form furazan and furoxan derivatives.

The explosive sensitivity is found to be in the order: MATB > DATB > TATB. However, the desensitizing influence of $-NH_2$ group is due to its electron donating and/or hydrogen bonding characteristics. Recently the synthesis of 1,3,5-triamino-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene from picramide or 1,3,5-trinitrobenzene was claimed by Mitchell et al. [51–53] at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory which may significantly reduce the further cost of 2,4,6-trinitro-1,3,5-triaminobenzene manufacturing.

Recently, Swedish Research Laboratory has developed another potential insensitive high explosive, viz., 1,1-diamino-2,2-dinitroethylene (DADNE or FOX-7), which attracted substantial attention because of its insensitivity towards external stimuli and [54] and its performance comparable with the performance of hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) [55]. Politzer et al. [56] have reported that 1,1diamino-2,2-dinitroethylene (FOX-7) has the same molecular stoichiometric as hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) and octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine (HMX), which are among the most powerful currently used for explosives and monopropellants applications. The complete decomposition of FOX-7 gives CO, N_2 and H_2O . The decomposition of FOX-7 also gives the same amount of gaseous product per gram of compound in comparison to RDX. It is interesting to note that the reported activation energy ($E_a = 58 \text{ kcal/mol}$ for temperature interval 210–250) [57] for 1,1-diamino-2,2-dinitroethylene (DADNE) is higher than that of hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) $(E_a = \sim 40 \text{ kcal/mol})$ and octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7tetrazocine (HMX) ($E_a = \sim 35$ kcal/mol), which favors DADNE as potential insensitive explosive [58]. The reported energetic properties of FOX-7 indicate its use as energetic filler in insensitive munitions [58]. Efforts are on to produce 1,1diamino-2,2-dinitroethylene in multigram quantity for its use in insensitive applications [59].

Pagoria et al. [60] reported the synthesis of 2,6-diamino-3,5-dinitropyrazine-1-oxide (LLM-105) from 2,6-diamino-3,5dinitropyrazine (ANPZ). 2,6-Diamino-3,5-dinitropyrazine-1oxide was first reported from USA [61]. LLM-105 exhibits density $\rho = 1.91$ g/cm³, impact insensitivity $h_{50\%} = 117$ cm and also possesses excellent physical properties, good safety characteristics properties. The energetic performance is anticipated to be more than 20% of the 1,3,5-triamino-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene. The overall properties of 2,6-diamino-3,5-dinitropyrazine-1oxide (LLM-105) makes it more attractive insensitive high explosive for futuristic applications. Physico-chemical properties of the promising energetic materials have been presented in Table 4.

7. Energetic oxidizers

An oxidizer is one having high oxidation potential and high electro negative atom or functional group. The periodic classification of the elements can be used to distinguish the oxidizer (high electro negativity) and the fuel (high electropositivity). In other words, the atoms on the right side of the periodic table are anticipated to show oxidizers

Table 4
Physico-chemical properties of potential insensitive high explosives (IHEs)

HEM	Structure	Mol. wt.	O.B. (%)	Density (g/cm ³)	$\Delta H_{\rm f}$ (kcal/mol)	mp (°C)	VOD (m/s)	CJ pressure (GPa)	Impact sensitivity (<i>h</i> _{50%} , cm)	Friction insensitivity (>kg)
FOX-7	H ₂ N O ₂ N NO ₂	148	-21.6	1.885	-32	254	9090	36.6	126	36
NTO	H NO ₂	130	-24.6	1.93	-28	270	8564	31.2	93	36
LLM-105		216	-37	1.91	-3	354	8560	35.0	117	36
TEX	NH2	262	-42.7	1.99	-106	299	8560	31.4	>177	36
	O ₂ N NO ₂ H ₂ N NH ₂									
TATB	TATB	258	-55.7	1.94	-33	330	8108	31.1	>177	36

FOX-7: 1,1-diamino-2,2-dinitroethlyene; NTO: nitrotriazolone; LLM-105: 2,6-diamino-3,5-dinitropyrazine-1-oxide; TEX: tetraoxa-explosive; TATB: 2,4,6-trinitro-1,3,5-triaminobenzene.

properties while those on the left are expected to show fuel characteristic properties. Thus, fluorine is the best oxidizer and F₂/H₂ propellant system gives maximum specific impulse among chemical propulsion system. The oxidation potential of the oxidizing group varies in the order [62] $F^- > OF^- > NF_2^- > CIF_4^- > O^- > NO_3^- > CIO_4^- > NO_2^- > CIO_3^-$.

The first rocket (developed in 1232) propelled using black powder using (KNO₃) and NaNO₃ as oxidizers. Then the scientists started in search for high performance oxidizers. Sodium perchlorate (NaClO₄), potassium perchlorate (KClO₄), lithium perchlorate (LiClO₄), nitronium perchlorate, etc. are the results of the search for new high-energy oxidizers [61,63–77]. Some of the physico-chemical properties of the oxidizers is given in Table 5. Sodium perchlorate and lithium perchlorate possesses positive oxygen balance and substantially large positive heat of formation compared to ammonium perchlorate. Ammonium dinitramide (ADN) is less sensitive to impact and exhibits low melting point (90 °C), where as hydrazinium nitroformate

Table 5	
Physico-chemical properties of oxidizers	

Oxidizer	Heat of formation $(\Delta H_{\rm f})$ (kJ/mol)	Oxygen balance (%)	Density (g/cm ³)
AP	-298	35	1.9
ADN	-151	26	1.8
HNF	-71	13	1.9
RDX	63	-22	1.8
HMX	76	-22	1.9
CL-20	454	-11	2.1

AP: ammonium perchlorate; ADN: ammonium dinitramide; HNF: hydrazinium nitroformate; RDX: hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine; HMX: octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine; CL-20: hexanitrohexaazaisowurtizitane.

(HNF) shows higher melting point but less hygroscopic in comparison to ADN.

Ammonium dinitramide (ADN) is prepared from aliphatic monoisocyanate using stoichiometric quantities of nitronium tetrafluoborate and nitric acid in acetonitrile as the nitrating medium followed by ammonia treatment. The NH_4^+ or K^+ salts of dinitramide are more stable compared to dinitramines. Ammonium dinitramide combines the low sensitivity of ammonium salts with the high burning rates of nitramines. It has low melting point and is slightly hygroscopic and hence needs special process conditions. The use of ammonium dinitramide in place of ammonium perchlorate certainly increases the energy of the propellant formulation and the burning rate of propellants. According to the literature reports, the space shuttle can lift 8% more mass into orbit by using ammonium dinitramide in comparison to ammonium perchlorate.

$$NH_4 CIO_4 NH_4 N (NO_2)_2 NH_2 NH_3 C (NO_2)_3 NH_4 NO_3$$

AP (XII) ADN (XIII) HNF (XIV) AN (XV)

Another potential energetic oxidizer, hydrazinium nitroformate has been synthesized by the reaction of anhydrous hydrazine with trinitromethane in ethylene dichloride. The purity of the hydrazinium nitroformate produced plays a major role in its stability. The work on the new energetic oxidizers has opened up new avenues and challenges for the high energy materials research community. Energetic eco-friendly oxidizers-ammonium dinitramide (ADN) [78] and hydrazinium nitroformate (HNF) [79] have entered in the domain of advanced propellant systems. These materials have dual advantage over the workhorse oxidizer, viz., ammonium perchlorate (AP) in terms of clean combustion and superior heat of formation (-71 and -151 kJ/mol). The energetic performance of the propellant formulations based on ADN and HNF exceeding 260 s. Moreover, hydrazinium nitroformate and ammonium dinitramide undergo highly exothermic combustion reactions.

Ammonium dinitramide was first synthesized in Zelinsky Institute of Russia in 1970 and subsequently ammonium dinitramide based propellants were productionized in Russia. Ammonium dinitramide based propellants may have found application in TOPOL-M intercontinental missile. However, research work carried out at Thiokol, USA suggests that smooth development of large scale propellants based on ADN is hampered due to its severe hygroscopicity as well as low melting point (~90 °C) and decomposition temperature (123 °C). Researchers also observed degradation of ammonium dinitramide in formulations. Efforts are on to produce prilled ammonium dinitramide to realize improved stability characteristics.

Work on hydrazinium nitroformate was carried out mainly at TNO, The Netherlands and is manufactured by Aerospace Propulsion Products (APP), The Netherlands at the scale of 300 kg/annum. Hydrazinium nitroformate has advantage over ammonium dinitramide in terms of its higher melting point and higher decomposition temperature, which are relevant from the application point of view. Moreover, hydrazinium nitroformate is non-hygroscopic. However, major concern is its high friction sensitivity. Phlegmatization of hydrazinium nitroformate by special gels is being attempted to tackle sensitivity problems. The preparation methods of hydrazinium nitroformate have bearing on its stability and sensitivity, while the recrystallization process decides the size and length/diameter ratio of the crystals, which in turn influence the processibility of the propellant formulations. In addition to the problems associated with purity and crystal structure, utilization of hydrazinium nitroformate in practical formulations suffers from the drawback of its incompatibility with the workhorse binder (Hydroxy terminated polybutadiene). Glycidyl azide polymer (GAP) [80] and poly-3-nitratomethyl-3-methyl oxetene (PNIMMO) [81] have emerged as possible energetic binders suitable for hydrazinium nitroformate based propellants.

8. Nitramines: potential energetic materials

Nitramines are potentially high energy density materials (HEDMs) and are among the types of substances that have been targeted for synthesis. It has been found from the database that amino groups in nitramines are rather flexible. The nitramines are the most recently introduced class of organic nitrate explosives. The most prominent member of this class is RDX (research department explosive; hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine, which is also known as cyclonite, XVI), HMX (high melting explosive; octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine, XVII), nitroguanidine and tetryl. Hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine received great importance during World War II; it is used in combination with 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene, wax, etc. to facilitate ease of handling and to reduce sensitivity.

8.1. HMX [octogen; octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine]

Molecular structure of HMX (XVII) is similar to RDX (XVI), with advantages of higher melting point, density and velocity of detonation. However, octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine is relatively costly and sensitive in comparison to hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine. Octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine exists in four polymorphic forms, the β form being the most stable and the least sensitive. The α and γ forms exist at room temperature but above 160 °C all forms transform to the δ polymorph.

Henning first prepared hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine in 1898, followed by Herz (2) in 1921, who patented its use as an explosive and by Hale in 1925. Two main processes of manufacture of hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine are known. The Woolwich, or direct nitrolysis process, is based on reaction of hexamethylene-tetramine (hexamine) with a large excess (11 parts by weight) of 99% nitric acid (below 25 °C). In the Bachmann or combination process, the reaction mixture contains nitric acid, ammonium nitrate, acetic anhydride and acetic acid. The product obtained by Bachmann process also contains 10% HMX and therefore the process requires additional purification procedures.

8.2. 1,3,3-Trinitroazetidine (TNAZ)

TNAZ (XVIII) is a highly nitrated four member nitrogen heterocyclic ring with increased performance in comparison to conventional melt castable explosive trinitrotoluene. The additional contribution of energy is expected from the strained ring system [82-86]. There are more than 16 methods reported for the synthesis of 1,3,3-trinitroazetidine [87]. Most of the reported methods of synthesis of 1,3,3-trinitroazetidine offer low yields. Therefore efforts are on to improve upon the yields of final product (TNAZ) by reducing the number of steps in the synthesis. 1,3,3-Trinitroazetidine is more powerful than the widely used conventional melt castable explosive (2,4,6-trinitrotoluene) (Table 6). The low melting point of 1,3,3-trinitroazetidine (101 °C) compared to the melting point of 205 °C for hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine, would enable processing of formulations on modified production lines. 1,3,3-Trinitroazetidine can safely sustain twice the energy of impact compared to octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine without detonation. Successful formulations development would enable a more powerful general purpose explosive. Efforts are also on to reduce the volatility of 1,3,3trinitroazetidine by adding certain other ingredients to the 1,3,3-trinitroazetidine energetic formulations.



ruysico-chemical properties of nitramines						
Properties	TNAZ	RDX	HMX	CL-20		
Molecular formula	C ₃ H ₄ N ₄ O ₆	C ₃ H ₆ N ₆ O ₆	C ₄ H ₈ N ₈ O ₈	C ₆ H ₆ N ₁₂ O ₁₂		
mp (°C)	101	205	276-286	228		
Density (g/cm ³)	1.84	1.806	1.95	α (1.97), β (1.99), γ (1.92), ε		
$\Delta H_{\rm f}$ (kJ/mol)	+2	+63	+76	+454		
Oxygen balance (%)	-17	-21.61	-21.61	-11		
Detonation pressure (GPa)	35.68	33.92	38.39	46.65		
DTA [Exo] (°C)	233	215	278	228		
VOD (m/s)	8600	8600	8900	9580		

71

Table 6Physico-chemical properties of nitramines

Impact sensitivity, $h_{50\%}$ (cm)

TNAZ: trinitroazetidine; RDX: hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine; HMX: octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine; CL-20: hexanitrohexaazaisowurtizitane.

Baum and coworkers [88] reported the synthesis of 1,1,3,3-tetranitro cyclobutane (TNCB) (XX), by the nitration of 1,3-dinitrocyclobutane with AgNO₃ and NaNO₂. Recently, Tartakovskii and coworkers [89] reported the synthesis of *trans*-1,2,3-tris(nitramino)cyclopropane (NACP) (XXI) using cyclopropyl triamine and Ac₂O/HNO₃ or trifluroacetic acid/HNO₃.

22

Efforts are also on to form binary eutectic compositions with a variety of structurally similar energetic molecules like 1,3-dinitro-1',3'-dinitroazetidine-3'-yl azetidine (TNDAZ, XIX).



A series of new nitramines arranged in cyclobutane ring system with different confirmers have been reported. The strain energy of cyclobutane ring is 26 kcal/mol. The strain energy of the cyclobutane ring also contributes to the energetics of the system.



Dimidazole derivative of (compound-XXII) is soluble in polar organic solvents such as dimethyl formamide and dimethyl sulfoxide. Compound (XXII) may be possible replacement for pentaerythritol tetranitrate (PETN) for applications such as exploding bridge wire detonators.

8.3. CL-20/HNIW

CL-20 [2,4,6,8,10,12-hexanitrohexaazaisowurtzitane (HN-IW)] is another new nitramine explosive with 20% more energy than octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine. The dis-

covery of hexanitrohexaazaisowurtzitane was a breakthrough in energetic materials with higher performance, minimum signature, and reduced hazard characteristics. The studies carried out on CL-20 (hexanitrohexaazaisowurtzitane) indicated that it has numerous military and commercial applications. The method of synthesis of CL-20 involves the preparation of hexabenzyl isowurtizitane followed by debenzylation, acetylation and nitration. The one of the steps involved in the CL-20 synthesis requires the use of expensive palladium catalyst. Efforts are on all over the world to reduce the cost of CL-20 using less expensive catalytic materials. Hexanitrohexaazaisowurtzitane reported to exists in four crystalline forms. HNIW exhibits density (>2 g/cm³) and velocity of detonation (9400 m/s). The studies on hexanitrohexaazaisowurtzitane has also been reported by Geetha et al. [90]

16-20

(2.04)

9. Octanitrocubane

65

Octanitrocubane is another emerging high explosive of interest to HEMs community. Recently, the synthesis of octanitrocubane is reported by Philip Eaton's group of United States of America. Octanitrocubane (ONC) [91] can outstrip the performance level of even today's most powerful molecule hexanitrohexaazaisowurtzitane. It has density more than 2 g/cm^3 and heat of formation exceeding +400 kJ/mol, velocity of detonation of the order 10,450–11,800 m/s. The material is likely to revolutionize the high energy materials research in the future. The cost involved in the synthesis of octanitrocubane appears to be the constraint for the energetic materials community for its actual application in the high energy materials formulations.

10. Nitrate esters

Organic nitrate esters such as nitrocellulose (NC, XXV), nitroglycerine (NG, XXVI), penerythritol tetranitrate (PETN, XXVII) and isosorbide dinitrate (IDN, XXVIII) possess explosive properties and as such have been widely used by the military for many years in shell and demolition charges. These organic nitrate esters have been also used in the treatment of angina for a hundred years [92]. Nitrocellulose is formed by the esterification/*O*-nitration of cellulose using mixture of HNO₃ and H₂SO₄. In propellant grade nitrocellulose, the nitrogen content lies between 12.2 and 13.4%. Nitrocellulose is pulped, washed thoroughly and stabilized by the addition of a suitable stabilizer before use. It is a white amorphous, fibrous/powdery solid with a density of 1.66 g/cm^3 . The heat of explosion, volume of gases evolved and the temperature of explosion vary depending upon the nitrogen content of the nitrocellulose. Nitroglycerine (glycerol) is the nitrate ester of glycerol. Nitroglycerine is highly sensitive and is a powerful energetic material. It is an oily colorless and transparent liquid with a specific gravity of 1.6 at 15 °C. NG starts boiling at 180 °C, with exothermic decomposition and explodes at 215–218 °C.



11. Thermally stable explosives

Researchers from United States of America have reported several thermally stable energetic materials. The first compound prepared under this program was 2,4,6-tris(picrylamino)*s*-triazine or *N*,*N*-nitropicrylmelamine (TPM, XXIX). The compound 2,4,6-tris(picrylamino)-*s*-triazine is reported to exhibit moderate thermal stability, with a performance slightly better than that of trinitrotoluene. Subsequently, the heterocyclic nitrogen atoms of *N*,*N*-nitropicrylmelamine were systematically replaced with the C-nitro function to give nitro substituted tris(picrylamino)pyrimidine (XXX), pyridine (XXXI), and benzene (XXXII). XXX is more thermally stable than TPM (XXIX). However, the thermal stability decreased with further substitution of C-nitro for heterocyclic nitrogen to give XXXI and XXXII in spite of the increased resonance stabilization of the parent ring systems.

Thermal stability is an important characteristic of the energetic materials. Improved thermal stability ensures safer production, increased shelf life of munitions and low vulnerability to accidental initiations. Moreover, specific missions demand special class of high energy materials having decomposition temperatures superior to that of high performance explosives hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5triazine (RDX) and cyclotetramethylene tetranitramine (HMX) (>220 °C). Nitro compounds namely 2,4,6-tripicryl-s-triazine (TPT), 2,2',4,4',6,6'-hexanitrostilbene (HNS), 3,3'-diamino-2,2',4,4',6,6'-hexanitrobiphenyl (DIPAM) and 1,3,5-triamino-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene (TATB) having decomposition temperatures in the range of 290-350 °C have received attention for applications in supersonic missiles encountering high temperatures [93–95]. Tetranitrodibenzotetraazapentalene (TACOT) [96,97] having decomposition temperature of 400 °C also belongs to this class.

Owing to more favorable elemental composition, heteroaromatic nitro compounds represent class of explosives capable of delivering higher performance compared to analogous aromatic system [98,99]. The preparation of the energetic pyridines with higher energy potential implies the introduction of more than three nitro groups into the rings. However, it may lead to unstable vicinal dinitro groups. Another approach may be nitration of amino groups of aminopyridines resulting in primary and secondary nitraminopyridines.

Coburn and Singleton [100] have described the explosive properties of the nitropyridine derivatives namely, 2,4,6-trinitropyridine (TNPy), 2,4,6-trinitropyridine-1-oxide (TNPyOx), and 2,6-diazido-4-nitropyridine-1-oxide (DazN-PyOx). However, analogous nitro compounds of the series of N-heterocyclic aromatics (pyridine, diazine, triazine) have not become popular. 3,5-Dinitro-2,6-bispicrylamino pyridine (PYX) [101] is also reported as an attractive thermally stable high explosive with decomposition temperature 460 °C. It can offer higher velocity of detonation (7497 m/s) and detonation pressure (308 kbar) compared to tetranitrodibenzotetraazapentalene. Extraordinary thermal stability and insensitivity to mechanical stimuli has paved way for applications of 3,5-dinitro-2,6-bispicrylamino pyridine in the area of sheet explosives as well as civil applications such as oil-well perforation [102,103].

Trudell et al. [104] reported the synthesis of pyridine based tetranitrodibenzotetraazapentalene analogues namely, 2,4,8,10-tetranitro-5*H*-pyrido[3",4":4',5'][1,2,3]-triazolo [5,4-b]-pyridin-6-ium inner salt and 2,4,8,10-tetranitro-5Hpyrido[3",2":4'5'][1,2,3]-triazolo [1',2':1,2][1,2,3]-triazolo [5,4-b]-pyridine-6-ium inner salt, having decomposition temperatures of 340 and 396 °C. The compounds having crystal density of 1.88 g/cm³ are significantly more energetic than tetranitrodibenzotetraazapentalene. Recently, Badgujar et al. [105] reported synthesis, characterization, thermal stability and explosive behavior some new explosives based on 1,2-[bis-(2,4,6-trinitro) phenyl hydrazine]. The further work on these materials is underway in the author's laboratory for their applications in explosive formulations. Tables 7 and 8 describe the physico-chemical properties and explosive properties of some of the thermally stable explosives.



Properties	TPM	AFX-511	AFX-521		
Molecular formula	C ₂₁ H ₉ N ₁₅ O ₁₈	C ₁₇ H ₇ N ₁₁ O ₁₆	C ₁₇ H ₇ N ₁₁ O ₁₆		
Crystal density (g/cm ³)	1.74	1.75	1.75		
Melting points (°C)	316	460	460		
Differential thermal	Stable up to 290	Stable up to 350	Stable up to 350		

Physico-chemical properties of TPM, AFX-511 and AFX-521

TPM: N,N-nitropicrylmelamine; AFX-511: 2,4,6-tris(picrylamino)-s-triazine (95%) + 5% Kel-F 800; AFX-521: PYX (95%) + Kel-F 800 (5%).

12. Emerging nitration concepts

Nitration reactions and synthesis of nitro compounds have an immense importance in the synthetic organic chemistry [106]. Nitro compounds are widely used as chemical feedstock and also for synthesis of medicines, dyes, perfumes, anticancerous drugs, fertilizers, plastics and explosives [107,108]. Therefore, nitration of aromatic compounds has received great attention more recently, due to unsolved problems such as regioselectivity, over nitration and competitive oxidation of substrates. Explosions may occur in many of the procedures in the preparation of aromatic nitro compounds, and it is therefore necessary to adopt safer methodologies, which involve low cost, eco-friendly [109] and easily available reagents while preparing nitro compounds. Traditional nitration with a mixture of nitric acid and sulfuric acid is notoriously unselective for nitration of substituted compounds and disposal of spent liquors presents a serious environmental concern. Although this process is still in use in industries, nitrations are generally hazardous processes, generating nitrogen oxide (NOx) fumes and large quantities of waste acids. Nitration of aromatic compounds using solid supported reagents [110,111] has also received attention more recently. The use of solid acid catalyst is potentially attractive because of the ease of removal and recycling of the catalyst and the possibility that solid support might influence the selectivity. An inorganic solid offer significant benefits by providing effective catalysis and enhances the selectivity of the reaction. Application of inorganic nitrates such as bismuth nitrate [112,113] [Bi(NiO₃)₃], cerium ammonium nitrate [114] (CAN), sodium nitrite [115] (NaNO₂) and potassium nitrate (KNO₃) as nitrating agent were found to be more useful for nitration of aromatic compounds using silica gel as a solid support. Badgujar et al. [116] recently reported the environmentally benign synthesis of aromatic nitro compounds using silica supported inorganic nitrates. This is an important step towards eco-friendly nitration process. Dinitrogen pentoxide is another emerging versatile green nitrating agent for the synthesis of high energy materials. Recently, Talwar et al. [117] have reported synthesis of world's most powerful non-nuclear explosive, viz., hexanitrohexaazaisowurtzitane using dinitrogen pentoxide as nitrating agent. Research group from High Energy Materials Research laboratory also have also reported [117] the brief review on dinitrogen pentoxide.

13. Primary explosives

During the past eight decades the most prominent primary explosives which found entry into military applications are mercury fulminate, lead azide, lead styphnate and tetracene. Now with the exception of mercury fulminate, all the detonator chemistry revolves around the rest of the three in spite of their limitations. The poor thermal stability of mercury fulminate leads to its replacement by lead styphnate in percussion primers and lead azide in detonators. Many efforts had to be devoted with the electrostatic hazards of lead styphnate and it was necessary to supplement its use by a sensitizer (tetracene) which introduced a substance of poor thermal stability. Lead azide has considerable advantage in detonative efficiency, but brought in the safety problems associated with sensitive metal azides and its hydrolysis adjacent to copper components could and did give rise to serious accidents.

There have been continuing efforts throughout the ordnance community to improve on detonator technology, particularly safety aspects. There are a large number of high energy materials which could be prepared from nitro phenols, tetrazoles, triazoles, diazo, nitrobenzofuraxons, co-ordination compounds, etc., and represented by a varieties of metals as single or double salts which has been reported as potential initiatories. Sandia National Laboratories (NSL) and Pacific Scientific Energy Dynamics Division have been investigating a series of cobalt based energetic co-ordination compounds as deflagration to detonation transition (DDT) explosives for use in detonator applications. In addition to exhibiting acceptable performance characteristic for detonator use, these are superior with regard to safety/handling in comparison to detonants such as lead azide. Also cobalt is considered less objectionable than lead regarding toxicity and contamination concerns. Recently High Energy Materials Research Laboratory, India, reported the investigations in this direction with a possible use of such complex compounds in detonators or in pyrotechnic compositions. In this part of the review an attempt is made to present some important selected works in this relatively new emerged field of co-ordination compounds with its prospects as safe primary explosives.

Chemical structure of co-ordination compounds (CC) of the common formula of [MLn](OX)m, where M is the central ion, L is ammonia or organic base (ligand) and OX is an anion, makes it possible to create substances capable of explosion.

Table 7

Table 8
Explosive properties of thermally stable explosives

Explosive properties	XXIX	XXX	XXXI	XXXII	XXXIII	XXXIV	XXXV	XXXVI
mp (°C)	316	334	276	234	460	250	245	311
Thermal stability (DTA)	300	330	260	185	350	235	245	300
Impact sensitivity (cm)	200	201	_	60	63	66	68	92
Crystal density (g/cm^3)	1.74	1.88	1.80	1.82	1.75	1.79	1.78	1.77
CJ pressure (kbar)	238	286	263	272	242	262	254	242
Detonation velocity (mm/µs)	7.42	7.88	78.65	7.73	7.45	7.63	7.56	7.45

(XXIX): *N*,*N'*,*N''*-tris picryl melamine; (XXX): 5-nitro-2,4,6-tris(picryl amino) pyrimidine; (XXXI): 2,4,6-tris(picryl amino)-3,5-dinitro pyridine; (XXXII): 1,3,5-tris(picryl amino)-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene; (XXXIII): 3,5-dinitro-2,6-bis(picryl amino) pyridine; (XXXIV): 2,6-bis(picryl amino)-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene; (XXXVI): 1,3-dinitro-4,6-bis(picryl amino) benzene; (XXXVI): 3,5-dinitro-2,6-bis(picryl amino) pyridine.

Co-ordination compounds of this sort may be considered as energetic compositions, in which metal atom, fuel and oxidizer are mixed at a molecular level. Some of the metals, particularly transition metals are the "working horses" of co-ordination chemistry. Salts of the bivalent metals form stable complexes with various organic compounds. The valence of central metal atom define a sum of oxidizing group, whereas the co-ordination number of metal controls the fuel content in the molecule. These co-ordination compounds are known for more than 70 years and also some of them have found specific applications as primary explosives or igniters. The possibility of significant variations in nature of co-ordination compounds along with the presence of metal atom, which acts as a burning catalyst suggests a wide range of conceivable burning rates of co-ordination compounds. The combustion parameters, in turn, have been shown for high and primary explosives to be responsible for such explosive property as deflagration to detonation transition (DDT) length [118,119]. A lucid presentation has been given by Sinditskii et al. [120] for design and combustion behavior of explosive coordination compounds. Since the burning rate of an explosive compound is thought to be an important characteristic determining deflagration to detonation transition and initiating efficiency which depends upon the nature of oxidizers and nature of control atoms, change of nitrate ion to perchlorate one usually raises burning rates. Metal atom included in complexes can serve not only as a matrix, which ties up ligand fuel and anion oxidizer, also as a catalyst of redox reactions occurring during combustion and each anion has its own set of metals that possess a catalytic activity. Such complexes enable to carry out a chemical tailoring of the molecule such that various chemical groups which for complexation to occur and result in optimum explosive sensitivity and which can be introduced into the molecule by a proper choice of the ligand. Tetrazoles offer interesting possibilities as ligands since various energetic derivatives can be synthesized.

In the following pages we have discussed some of the reported important co-ordination compounds, viz., 2-(5-cyanotetrazolato) pentaamminecobalt(III) perchlorate (CP) [121,122] and its analogs, tetraamine *cis*-bis(5-nitro-2*H*-tetrazolato-N2)cobalt(III) perchlorate (BNCP), and some similar high energy co-ordination compounds. Several researchers extensively studied the detonation behavior of 2-(5-cyanotetrazolato) pentaamminecobalt(III) perchlorate for different applications [123–125]. The compound 2-(5-cyanotetrazolato) pentaamminecobalt(III) perchlorate was

developed to provide a relatively safe explosive material for low voltage, hot wire detonators. Researchers have reported the use of CP for different applications in the area of energetic materials.

Another notable in the series is BNCP [126-130] other than CP. In addition to exhibiting acceptable performance characteristics for its use in detonators, BNCP is superior with to safety/handling in comparison to detonant lead azide. CP based detonators have been in production since 1979, it has been demonstrated that BNCP possess superior performance properties. In 1986 Bates of Royal Armament Research and Development Establishment (RARDE), reported a 2-(5cyanotetrazolato) pentaamminecobalt(III) perchlorate related compound, as a possible replacement for lead azide and for other priming materials. It was found to undergo deflagration to detonation transition in smaller and less confining configurations than required for CP and exhibited a higher explosive yield than CP as indicated by witness block testing. The applications of BNCP in detonators have been discussed by several researchers [131,132].

Patil and co-workers [133] reported transition metal complexes of nitrate/azide/perchlorate and proposed their application as initiators. The preparation of nickel hydrazinium nitrate (NHN) as initiatory compound has been recently reported by Shunguan et al. [134]. Hariharnath et al. [135] evaluated potential use of NHN as component of squib composition. High Energy Materials Research laboratory (HEMRL) also embarked on the development of energetic co-ordination compounds for initiator applications [136].

Zang et al. studied the molecular structure, physico-chemical properties and characteristics of cadmium carbohydrazide perchlorate (GTG) [137]. The primary explosive was low sensitive to mechanical action and insensitive to heat and static electricity and suggested for its possibility for its use in various detonators. Similarly Lu synthesized a novel initiatory compound for explosives with cobalt as central atom and carbohydrazide [138] as ligand. The co-ordination number of the central atom cobalt was six and the coordinate polyhedron was a distorted octahedron. The compound was found to have excellent initiating ability which can be used as primary explosive in various detonators. Talawar et al. [139] have reported the carbohydrazide complexes of cobalt and nickel perchlorates for initiator applications. Some of the important properties of initiator compounds are listed in Tables 9 and 10.

Table	9
-------	---

Comparative properties of important initiatory compounds

S. no.	Property	Service lead azide (SLA)	Lead styphnate (LS)	Tetracene	Mercury fulminate (MF)
1.	Bulk density (g/cm ³)	1.75	1.5–1.6	0.6	1.35–1.75
2.	Explosion temperature $(0 \circ C)$	325	250	154	210
3.	Impact sensitivity (F of I)	20	18	10	10
4.	Friction sensitivity, $E_{50\%}$ (g)	50	300	650	150
5.	Flame sensitivity	Less	Sensitive	Sensitive	Sensitive
6.	Compatibility with copper and brass	Not compatible	Compatible	_	Not compatible
7.	Thermal stability	Stable	Stable	Less stable	Less stable
8.	Volatile matter (%)	0.1	_	0.15	_
9.	Stability in presence of moisture	Less stable	Stable	Less stable	Less stable

Table 10

Comparative properties of co-ordination initiatory compounds

Initiator	NCP	ССР	BNCP	NiHN	
Nature	Free flowing	Free flowing	Acicular	Free flowing	
Bulk density (g/cm^3)	0.85-0.90	0.85-0.90	0.3	0.8-0.9	
Thermal stability (°C)	290	300	250	180	
Ignition temperature (°C)	332	322	260	210	
Impact sensitivity, $h_{50\%}E$ (cm)	55-60	55-60	30	85	
Friction sensitivity (kg)	1.0	1.0	3.0	1.0	
Spark sensitivity (J)	_	_	5	5	
VOD (m/s)	_	-	5700	3750	

NCP: nickelcarbohydrazide perchlorate; CCP: cobaltcarbohydrazide perchlorate; BNCP: tetraamine *cis*-bis(5-nitro-2*H*-tetrazolato-N2)cobalt(III) perchlorate; NiHN: nickel hydrazinium nitrate.

14. Energetic ballistics modifiers

A solid rocket propellant is a heterogeneous mixture of metallic fuel, oxidizer, binder cum fuel, ballistic modifier and other additives. Oxidizer and fuel interaction produces the energy while ballistic modifiers alter the combustion behavior to obtain desired burning rate characteristics. Generally, composite propellants comprise of ammonium perchlorate (AP)—an oxidizer, aluminium (Al)—a metal fuel and hydroxy terminated polybutadiene (HTPB)—binder cum fuel. The burning rate of AP-composite propellants is routinely adjusted by the addition of small amounts of combustion catalysts to the propellant formulation. Kishore and Sunitha [140] carried out comprehensive literature survey on the combustion catalysts spanning roughly two decades up to late 1970.

A large number of publications have appeared since then on the role and site of action of catalysts. Inorganic transition metal oxides (TMOs) are generally used as ballistic modifiers in composite solid rocket propellants. Fe₂O₃ is widely used as a ballistic modifier in composite propellants due to its reactive centers in the flame [141]. Copper chromite (CC) is another conventional ballistic modifier used in composite propellants and is reported to catalyze both condensed and gas phase combustion reactions [142]. However, incorporation of Fe₂O₃ and copper chromite as ballistic modifier beyond 2–3% level causes undesirable penalty on the energetics of the propellant system due to their inert nature as because of being solid, their incorporation is at the cost of AP/AI. Ferrocene based compounds are relatively new to join the class of ballistic modifiers for composite propellants and are claimed to be more effective [143]. Due to their liquid nature, they have processing advantage and enable higher solid loading of AP and Al. However, commonly used non-bonded ferrocene derivative—*n*-butyl ferrocene tends to migrate to surface, if used in quantity more than 2-3% and undergoes oxidation during storage yielding sensitive products [144]. Moreover, even if such drawbacks are mitigated by various approaches (grafting/bonding on polymer), they also impair energetics like Fe₂O₃ and CC. Russian researchers also reported the potential of energetic co-ordination compounds for ballistic modifiers application [145,146].

15. Energetic binders

Emergence of novel propellants having unique combination of high energy and low vulnerability has led to development of energetic polymers [147–151]. Prepolymers having exothermically decomposing azido groups or oxygen-rich facile nitro/nitrato groups offer formulations with superior performance potential at relatively lower solid loading. Synthesis routes and the properties of potential azido polymers namely, glycidyl azide polymer (GAP) and poly bis azidomethyl oxetane (P-BAMO), poly azidomethyl methyl oxetane (PAMMO) as well as nitrato polymers namely, polyglycidyl nitrate (PGN) and nitratomethyl methyl oxetane (NIMMO) are widely reported. Energetic copolymers have also evinced considerable interest. Some of the interesting physico-chemical properties of energetic binders are given in Table 11. D.M. Badgujar et al. / Journal of Hazardous Materials 151 (2008) 289-305

Table 11
Physico-chemical properties of binders

Energetic binder	Heat of formation (kJ/mol)	Density (g/cm ³)	Oxygen balance (%)	Glass transition temperature (°C)
GAP	+117	1.30	-121	-45
Poly-BAMO	+413	1.30	-124	-45
Poly-AMMO	+179	1.06	-170	-35
Poly-NIMMO	-335	1.26	-114	-25
PGN	-285	1.39	-61	-35
HTPB	-52	0.92	-324	-65
BAMO-THF copolymer	+189	1.18	-125	-56

GAP: glycidyl azide polymer; HTPB: hydroxy terminated polybutadiene; PGN: polyglycidyl nitrate; NIMMO: nitratomethyl methyl oxetane; BAMO: bis azidomethyl oxetane; AMMO: azidomethyl methyl oxetane; THF: tetrahydrofuran.

16. Plasticizers

The plasticizers need to be added to the binder to realize the desired possibility. Conventional plasticizers used with hydroxy terminated polybutadiene (HTPB) namely, phthalates like dioctyl adipate (DOA), and isodecyl pelargonate (IDP) find applications with energetic binders also. From the point of view of augmenting the energetics, a large number of compounds containing nitro, azido, nitrato group are emerging as potential plasticizer candidates [152,153] (Table 12).

Table 12

Selected energetic plasticizers and their properties

Name	Structure	mp/bp (°C)	ρ (g/cm ³) $\Delta H_{\rm f}$ (kcal/mo	l) Energy of comb	. (cal/mol) O.B. (%)
TEGDN	$CH_{2} - O - NO_{2}$ I $CH_{2} - O - CH_{2} - CH_{2}$ $O_{2}NO - H_{2}C - H_{2}C - O$	-23	1.3	-149	823	-67
BTTN	CH2 [—] ONO2 CH2 [—] ONO2 CH2 CH2 [—] ONO2	-6	1.5	-99	523	-17
TMETN	CH2-ONO2 CH2-CH2-ONO2 CH2-ONO2	15.7/182	1.49	-99.6	674	-34.5
Ethyl NENA	NO ₂ Et — N—CH ₂ —CH ₂ —ONO ₂	5	1.3	-34	3549	-67
Propyl NENA	NO ₂ Pr — N — C H ₂ — C H ₂ — O NO ₂	_	-	-37	4132	-87
Bu NENA	NO_2 Bu $-N$ $-CH_2$ $-CH_2$ $-ONO_2$	-9	1.2	-40	4630	-
Mixture of BDPF and BDPA	$CH_2 [OCH_2C(NO_2)_2CH_3]_2$	-18	1.39	484	-	-51
DEGBAA	CH ₂ CH ₂ OCOCH ₂ N ₃ CH ₂ CH ₂ OCOCH ₂ N ₃	_	1	-329	_	-100
TMNMTAA	CH ₂ OCOCH ₂ N ₃ O ₂ N-COCOCH ₂ N ₃ CH ₂ OCOCH ₂ N ₃	_	1.4	-230	_	-72
PETAA	$C-(CH_2OCOCH_2N_3)_4$	_	1.4	-215	_	-89
DAFP	FC $(NO_2)_2$ CH ₂ O CH ₂ CH (N_3) CH	l _	1.4	57	-	_
AFFO	$FC\;(NO_2)_2\;CH_2\;O\;CH_2\;O\;CH\;(CH_2$	_	_	23	-	_

TEGDN: triethylene glycol dinitrate; BTTN: 1,2,4 butane triol trinitrate; TMETN: metriol trinitrate; NENA: nitroethyl nitramine; BDPF and BDPA: bis 2,2 dinitro propyl formal and bis 2,2 dinitro propyl acetal; DEGBAA: diethylene glychol bis (azido acetate); TMNMTAA: trimethylol nitromethane triazido acetate; PETAA: pentaerythritol tetrakis azido acetate; DAFP: 1,2 diazido 3 fluro dinitro ethoxy propane; AFFO: 1,3 diazido isopropyl fluro dinitroethyl formal.

17. Conclusions

This review describes in brief about the synthesis and the performance characteristic properties of some of the energetic materials of current and futuristic interest. Authors strongly feel that, the review will be of great help to high energy materials researchers/scientists/technologist/engineers for their futuristic research and development work. Authors also have covered some of the interesting and recently published frontline research papers in the field of high energy materials from openly available literature. Over all the review has focused on oxidizers, powerful explosives, energetic ballistic modifiers, energetic co-ordination compounds, energetic polymers and energetic plasticizers. The research and development activities have taken momentum in many high energy materials schools to produce more powerful high energetic materials using eco-friendly synthesis route/s. High energy materials technologists and engineers are also focusing more on producing the safe (insensitive) and powerful energetic materials in comparison to conventional energetic materials. The future in the energetic materials research area appears to be bright and authors hope that, more and more new powerful and strategic energetic materials may appear in literature in the future.

Acknowledgement

Authors thank to Ministry of Defense, DRDO, New Delhi for financial support to this project.

References

- T. Urbanski, Chemistry and Technology of Explosives, Pergamon Press, PWN-Polish Scientific Publishers, Warszawa, 1964.
- [2] S. Delvin, Explosives, 1st ed., ISBN: 81-7625-114-3, 2000.
- [3] D.M. Badgujar, M.B. Talawar, S.N. Asthana, S. Venugopalan, A. Subhananda Rao, P.P. Mahulikar, Microwave assisted facile synthesis of {1/1,3-bis/1,3,5-tris-[(2-nitroxyethylnitramino)-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene]} using bismuth nitrate pentahydrate as an eco-friendly nitrating agent, J. Hazard. Mater., doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.07.045, in press, available online July 21, 2007.
- [4] H.S. Jadhav, M.B. Talawar, R. Sivabalan, D.D. Dhavale, S.N. Asthana, V.N. Krishnamurthy, Synthesis, characterization and thermolysis studies on new derivatives of 2,4,5-trinitroimidazoles: potential insensitive high energy materials, J. Hazard. Mater. 143 (1/2) (2007) 192–197.
- [5] P.F. Pagoria, G.S. Lee, A.R. Mitchell, R.D. Schmidt, A review of energetic materials synthesis, Thermochim. Acta 384 (2002) 187–204.
- [6] R. Meyer, J. Kohler, Explosives, 4th revised and extended ed., VCH Publishers, Weinheim, New York, 1993.
- [7] R.W. Millar, S.P. Philbin, R.P. Claridge, J. Hamid, Studies of novel heterocyclic insensitive high explosive compounds: pyridines, pyrimidines, pyrazines and their bicyclic analogues, Propellants Explosives Pyrotechniques 29 (2004) 81–92.
- [8] S.P. Philbin, R.W. Millar, R.G. Coombes, Preparation of 2,5-diamino-3,6-dinitropyrazine (ANPZ-i): a novel candidate high energy insensitive explosives, Propellants Explosives Pyrotechnics 25 (2000) 302–306.
- [9] H. Ritter, H.H. Licht, Neue Explosivevstoffe: Dinitropyridine, in: Proceedings of the 24th International Annual Conference of ICT, Karlruhe, Germany, June 29–July 1993, p. 6/1.
- [10] R.A. Hollins, L.M. Merwin, R.A. Nissan, W.W. Wolson, R. Gilardi, Aminonitropyridines and their *N*-oxides, J. Heterocycl. Chem. 33 (1996) 895–904.

- [11] R.A. Hollins, L.H. Merwin, R.A. Nissan, W.S. Wilson, R. Gilardi, Amino nitropyridines and their *N*-oxides, J. Heterocycl. Chem. 33 (1996) 895–904.
- [12] P.F. Pagoria, A.R. Mitchell, R.D. Schmidt, R.I. Simpson, F. Gracia, J. Forbes, J. Cutting, R. Lee, R. Swansiger, D.M. Hoffmann, Presented at the Insensitive Munitions and Energetic Materials Technology Symposium, San Diego, CA, 1998.
- [13] L.E. Fried, M.R. Manaa, P.F. Pagoria, R.L. Simpson, Design and synthesis of energetic materials, Annu. Rev. Mater. Res. 31 (2001) 291–321.
- [14] Z. Chaoyang, S. Yuanjie, Z. Xiaodong, D. Haishan, W. Xinfeng, Computational investigation on high energy density materials (HEDM) of azoic and azoxy derivatives of DAF, FOX-7, TATB, ANPZ and LLM-105, J. Mol. Struct.: Theochem. 728 (1– 3) (2005) 129–134.
- [15] S.Y. Liu, M.D. Wu, J.L. Chen, G.S. Shaw, C.H. Lin, Huoyao Jishu 7 (1) (1993) 53, CA: 119: 163568f.
- [16] W. Naixing, C. Boren Ov Oyaxiang, Huaxue Shijie 34 (6) (1993) 254, Chem. Abstract: 121: 13241w.
- [17] W. Naixing, Li Jisheng, Hanneng Cailao 2 (3) (1994) 25, Chemical Abstract 123: 148320h.
- [18] M. Chaykovsky, H.G. Adolph, Substituent effects in the conversion of azido- and diazidotrinitrobenzenes to benzofuroxans and difuroxans, J. Heterocycl. Chem. 28 (1991) 1491–1495.
- [19] A. Albini, S. Pietra, Heterocyclic N-oxides, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1991.
- [20] N. Kubota, Combustion of energetic azide polymers, J. Propul. Power 11 (4) (1995) 677–682.
- [21] M.H.J.L. Gadiot, J.M. Mul, J.J. Meulenbrugge, P.A.O.G. Korting, A.J. Schnorhk, H.F.R. Schoyer, New solid propellants based on energetic binders and HNF, Acta Astronautica 29 (1993) 771–779.
- [22] Z. Dang, F. Zhao, S. Li, C. Yin, R. Hu, Thermal decomposition characteristics of 1,7-diazido-2,4,6-trinitrazaheptane and its application in propellants, J. Therm. Anal. Calorimetry 61 (2000) 771–778.
- [23] Z. Dang, F. Zhao, S. Li, Combustion mechanism of low-signature propellant containing 1,7-diazido-2,4,6-trinitrazaheptane (DATH), J. Energ. Mater. 18 (1) (2000) 29–37.
- [24] M.B. Frankel, J.F. Weber, 4-Azido-4,4-dinitro-1-butanol and derivatives thereof, United States Patent 4,795,593 (1989).
- [25] K. Nagayama, Y. Oyumi, Combustion characteristics of high burn rate azide polymer propellant, Propellants Explosives Pyrotechnics 21 (1996) 74–78.
- [26] J.R. Reed, V.L. Brady, Flame extinguishing pyrotechnic and explosive composition, United States Patent 5,520,826 (1994).
- [27] N. Wang, J. Li, Synthesis of 2-methyl-2-nitro-1-azidopropane, Propellants Explosives Pyrotechnics 23 (1998) 46–47.
- [28] Y. Oyumi, Mechanical properties of plateau burn azide composite propellents, Propellants Explosives Pyrotechnics 24 (1999) 249.
- [29] K. Subramanian, Hydroxyl-terminated poly(azidomethyl ethylene oxideb-butadiene-b-azidomethyl ethylene oxide)—synthesis, characterization and its potential as a propellant binder, Eur. Polym. J. 35 (1999) 1403–1411.
- [30] H. Henrich Licht, H. Ritter, New energetic materials from triazoles and tetrazines, J. Energ. Mater. 12 (1994) 223–235.
- [31] M.A. Hiskey, N. Goldman, J.R. Stine, High-nitrogen energetic materials derived from azotetrazolate, J. Energ. Mater. 16 (1998) 119–127.
- [32] R. Sivabalan, M. Anniyappan, S.J. Pawar, M.B. Talawar, G.M. Gore, S. Venugopalan, B.R. Gandhe, Synthesis, characterization and thermolysis studies on triazole and tetrazole based high nitrogen content high energy materials, J. Hazard. Mater. 137 (2) (2006) 672–680.
- [33] M.B. Talawar, R. Sivabalan, N. Senthilkumar, G. Prabhu, S.N. Asthana, Synthesis, characterization and thermal studies on furazan- and tetrazinebased high energy materials, J. Hazard. Mater. 113 (1–3) (2004) 11–25.
- [34] V.H. Khire, M.B. Talawar, K.V. Prabhakaran, T. Mukundan, E.M. Kurian, Spectro-thermal decomposition study of 1,4-dinitroglycoluril (DINGU), J. Hazard. Mater. 119 (1– 3) (2005) 63–68.
- [35] H.H. Licht, H. Ritter, Synthesis and explosive properties of dinitrobitriazole, Propellants Explosives Pyrotechnics 22 (1997) 333–336.

- [36] M.B. Talawar, R. Sivabalan, S.N. Asthana, H. Singh, Novel Ultra High Energy Materials, Combustion, Explosion and Shock Waves, vol. 41, Springerlink, New York, USA, 2005, pp. 264–277.
- [37] R. Sivalaban, M.B. Talawar, N. Sethilkumar, S. Kavitha, S.N. Asthana, Studies on azotetrazolate based high nitrogen content high energy materials potential additives for rocket propellants, J. Therm. Anal. Calorimetry 78 (2004) 781–792.
- [38] S.G. Cho, B.S. Park, J.R. Cho, Theoretical studies on the structure of 1,2,4,5-tetranitroimidazole, Propellants Explosives Pyrotechnics 24 (1999) 343–348.
- [39] A.J. Bracuti, Crystal structure of 2,4-dinitroimidazole (2,4-DNI), J. Chem. Crystallogr. 25 (1995) 625–627.
- [40] S.C. Cho, Y.G. Cheun, B.S. Park, Computational study of imidazole, 4-nitroimidazole, 5-nitroimidazole and 4,5-dinitroimidazole, J. Mol. Struct.: Theochem. 432 (1998) 41–53.
- [41] M.D. Coburn, Ammonium 2,4,5-trinitroimidazole, US Patent 4,028,154, USA (1977), CA 88 (2) 9198.
- [42] D.T. Cromer, C.B. Storm, Structure of 4,4,5,5-tetranitro-2,2-biimidazole dehydrate, Acta Crystallogr. C46 (1990) 1957–1958.
- [43] D.T. Cromer, C.B. Storm, Structure of the diammonium salt of 4,4',5,5'tetranitro-2,2'-biimidazole, C₆N₈O₈·2NH₄, Acta Crystallogr. C46 (1990) 1959–1960.
- [44] S.S. Novikov, L.I. Khmel'nitskii, O.V. Lebedev, V.V. Sevast'yanova, L.V. Epishina, Nitration of imidazoles with various nitrating agents, Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. 6 (4) (2004) 465–469.
- [45] New Energetic Materials, 1-methyl-2,4,5-trinitroimidazole (MTNI); A Candidate of New Insensitive High Explosive, http://enermat.org.ru/ explosive.html.
- [46] S. Bulusu, R. Dmavarapu, J.R. Autera, R. Behrens Jr., L.M. Minier, J. Villanueva, K. Jayasuriya, T. Axenord, Thermal rearrangement of 1,4-dinitroimidazole to 2,4-dinitroimidazole: characterization and investigation of the mechanism by mass spectrometry and isotope labeling, J. Phys. Chem. 99 (1995) 5009–5015.
- [47] G. Singh, I.P. Kapoor, S.K. Tiwari, P.S. Felix, Studies on energetic compounds. Part 16. Chemistry and decomposition mechanisms of 5nitro-2,4-dihydro-3H-1,2,4-triazole-3-one (NTO), J. Hazard. Mater. 81 (2001) 67–82.
- [48] D.C. Sorescu, J.A. Boatz, D.L. Thompson, Classical and quantum mechanical studies of crystalline FOX-7 (1,1-diamino-2,2dinitroethylene), J. Phys. Chem. A 105 (2001) 5010–5021.
- [49] Yu.A. Aminov, M.M. Gorshkov, V.T. Zaikin, G.V. Kovalenko, Yu.R. Nikitenko, G.N. Rykovanov, Deceleration of detonation products of a TATB-based high explosive, Combust. Explos. Shock Waves 38 (2) (2004) 235–238.
- [50] C.L. Jackson, J.F. Wing, LIX on tribromotrinitrobenzol, Am. Chem. J. 10 (1888) 283–287.
- [51] A.R. Mitchell, R.D. Sanner, Energetic materials—insensitivity and environmental awareness, in: H. Ebeling (Ed.), Proceedings of the 24th International Annual Conference of ICT, Karlsruhe, Germany, 1993, p. 38.
- [52] A.R. Mitchell, P.F. Pagoria, R.D. Schmidt, Energetic materials—technology, manufacturing and processing, in: T. Keicher (Ed.), Proceedings of the 27th International Annual Conference of ICT, Karlsruhe, Germany, 1996, p. 29.
- [53] A.R. Mitchell, P.F. Pagoria, R.D. Schmidt, Challenges in propulsion and combustion, in: K.K. Kuo (Ed.), 100 Years After Nobel, Bagell, New York, 1997, p. 189.
- [54] P.F. Pagoria, A.R. Mitchell, R.D. Schmidt, R.L. Simpson, F. Garcia, J. Forbes, J. Cutting, R. Lee, R. Swansiger, D.M. Hoffman, Presented at the Insensitive Munitions and Energetic Materials Technology Symposium, San Diego, CA, 1998.
- [55] P. Pagoria, A. Mitchell, R. Schmidt, L. Fried, Munitions Technology Development Program, UCRL-ID-103483-99, 1999, p. II-5.
- [56] P. Politzer, M.C. Concha, M.E. Grice, J.S. Murray, P. Lane, Computational investigation of the structures and relative stabilities of amino/nitro derivatives of ethylene, J. Mol. Struct. (Theochem.) 452 (1998) 75–83.
- [57] M. Anniyappan, M.B. Talawar, G.M. Gore, S. Venugopalan, B.R. Gandhe, Synthesis, characterization and thermolysis of 1,1-diamino-2,2-

dinitroethylene (FOX-7) and its salts, J. Hazard. Mater. 137 (2) (2006) 812–819.

- [58] I.J. Lochert, Studies on FOX-7, NDIA Insensitive Munitions & Energetic Materials Technology Symposium, Orlando FL, March 2003, http://www.dtic.mil/ndia/2003insensitive/lochert2.pdf.
- [59] N.V. Latypove, J. Bergman, A. Langlet, U. Wellmar, U. Bemm, Synthesis and reactions of 1,1-diamino-2,2-dinitroethylene, Tetrahedron 54 (1998) 11525–11536.
- [60] P.F. Pagoria, A.R. Mitchell, R.D. Schmidt, R.L. Simpson, F. Garcia, J.W. Forbes, R.W. Swansiger, D.M. Hoffman, Synthesis, Scale-up and Characterization of 2,6-Diamino-3,5-dinitropyrazine-l-oxide (LLM-105), JOWOG 9, Ald Ermaston, England, June 22–26, 1998, April 27, 1998, http://www.osti.gov/bridge/servlets/purl/672328tIIGju/webviewablen/ 672328.pdf.
- [61] H.F.R. Schoyer, A.J. Schnorhk, P.A.O.G. Korting, P.J. Van Lit, J.M. Mul, G.M.H.J.L. Gadiot, J.J. Meulenbrugge, High-performance propellants based on hydrazinium nitroformate, J. Propul. Power 11 (1995) 856–869.
- [62] H. Singh, Workhorse Oxidizer for Solid Propellants, Aluva, December 9, 1996, Vikram Sarabhai Space Centre, Trivandrum, 1996.
- [63] H.S. Jadhav, M.B. Talawar, D.D. Dhavale, S.N. Asthana, V.N. Krishnamurthy, Synthesis, characterization and thermal behaviour of hydrazinium nitroformate (HNF) and its new *N*-alkyl substituted derivatives, Ind. J. Chem. Technol. 12 (2005) 187–192.
- [64] L.F. Cannizzo, Development of New Energetic Materials for Advanced Solid Rocket Propellants; Thiokol Corp Brigham City UT, Report No. A949704, 1997, http://www.stormingmedia.us/94/9497/A949704.html.
- [65] O.P. Korobeinichev, T.A. Bolshova, A.A. Paletsky, Modeling the chemical reactions of ammonium dinitramide (ADN) in a flame, Combust. Flame 126 (1/2) (2001) 1516–1523.
- [66] T.B. Brill, P.J. Brush, D.G. Patil, Thermal decomposition of energetic materials 58. Chemistry of ammonium nitrate and ammonium dinitramide near the burning surface temperature, Combust. Flame 92 (1/2) (1993) 178–186.
- [67] H.F.R. Schoyer, W.H.M. Welland-Veltmans, J. Louwers, P.A.O.G. Korting, A.E.D.M. Van der Heijden, H.L.J. Keizers, van den Berg, Overview of the development of hydrazinium nitroformate-based propellants, J. Propul. Power 18 (1) (2002) 138–145.
- [68] H.F.R. Schoyer, W.H.M. Welland-Veltmans, J. Louwers, P.A.O.G. Korting, A.E.D.M. van der Heijden, H.L.J. Keizers, van den Berg, R.P. Schoyer, J. Propul. Power 18 (1) (2002) 131.
- [69] S.P. Velarde, L.F. Cannizzo, T.K. Highsmith, R.S. Hamilton, W.W. Edwards, Synthetic Directions in New Energetic Materials for Advanced Solid Rocket Propellants, ATK Thiokol Propulsion Corp Brigham City UT, Report No. A872704, September 1999.
- [70] P.S. Dendage, D.B. Sarwade, S.N. Asthana, H. Singh, Hydrazinium nitroformate (HNF) and HNF based propellants: a review, J. Energ. Mater. 19 (2001) 41–78.
- [71] S. Venkatachalam, S. Thomas, A.U. Francis, R. Ramaswamy, K.N. Ninan, Energetic materials: brief overview, in: Proceedings of the Second International High Energy Materials Conference and Exhibit, IIT Madras, Chennai, December 8–10, 1998, pp. 246–252.
- [72] S. Löbbecke, H. Schuppler, W. Schweikert, Thermal Analysis of Hydrazinium Nitroformate (HNF). Energetic Materials—Ignition, Combustion and Detonation, Proceedings, S.145.1–S.145.12, 2001, 32nd International Annual Conference of Fraunhofer ICT 2001, 03.-06.06.2001, Karlsruhe.
- [73] M.B. Talawar, R. Sivabalan, M. Anniyappan, G.M. Gore, S.N. Asthana, B.R. Gandhe, Emerging trends in advanced high energy materials, Combust. Explos. Shock Waves 43 (1) (2007) 62–72.
- [74] S. Löbbecke, H. Schuppler, W. Schweikert, Thermal Analysis of New Energetic Materials Based on Nitrogen-Rich Heterocyclic Structures: Thermal Analysis of Hydrazinium Nitroformate (HNF). Energetic Materials—Ignition, Combustion and Detonation, Proceedings of the 32nd International Annual Conference of Fraunhofer ICT 2001, 03.-06.06.2001, Karlsruhe.
- [75] R.J. Schmitt, J.C. Bottaro, M. Petrie, P.E. Penwell, Synthesis of New High Energy Density Matter (HEDM): Extra High Energy Oxidizers and Fuels, SRI International, US Report Number A299783, September 2000.

- [76] U. Teipel, T. Heintz, Zur Kristallisation von Ammonium-dinitramid (ADN). Energetic Materials—Ignition, Combustion and Detonation, Proceedings, 49/1–49/12, 2001, 32nd International, Annual Conference of Fraunhofer ICT 2001, 03.-06.06.2001, Karlsruhe.
- [77] R.D. Chapman, R.D. Giillardi, M.F. Welker, C.B. Creutzberger, Nitrolysis of a highly deactivated amide by protonitronium. Synthesis and structure of HNFX, J. Org. Chem. 64 (1999) 960–965.
- [78] J.C. Bottaro, P.E. Penwell, R.J. Schmitt, 1,1,3,3-Tetraoxo-1,2,3triazapropane anion, a new oxy anion of nitrogen: the dinitramide anion and its salts, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119 (1997) 9405–9410.
- [79] P.S. Dendage, S.N. Asthana, H. Singh, Eco-friendly energetic oxidizerhydrazinium nitroformate (HNF) and propellants based on HNF, J. Ind. Chem. Soc. 80 (2003) 563–568.
- [80] M.B. Frenkel, L.R. Grant, J.E. Flanagan, Historical development of glycidyl azide polymer, J. Propul. Power 18 (1992) 560–563.
- [81] E. Kimura, Y. Oyumi, Effects of polymerization ratio of BAMO/NMMO and catalyst on sensitivity and burning rate of HMX propellant, Propellants Explosives Pyrotechnics 20 (1995) 215–221.
- [82] T.G. Archibald, R. Gilardi, K. Baum, C. George, Synthesis and Xray crystal structure of 1,3,3-trinitroazitidine, J. Org. Chem. 55 (1990) 2920–2924.
- [83] R.L. Mckenny, T.G. Floyed, Synthesis and thermal properties of 1,3-dinitro-3-(1',3'-dinitroazetidin-3'-yl) azetidine (TNDAZ) and its admixtures with 1,3,3-trinitroazetidine (TNAZ), J. Energ. Mater. 16 (1999) 199–235.
- [84] M.A. Hiskey, M. Catherine Johnson, D.E. Chavez, Preparation of 1substituted-3,3-dinitroazetidines, J. Energ. Mater. 17 (1999) 233–252.
- [85] Zhang, R. Hu, Thermal-behavior of 1,3,3-trinitroazetidine, Thermochim. Acta 298 (1997) 31–35.
- [86] V.A. Tartaosky, O.A. Luk' Yanov, Proceedings of the 25th International Annual Conference of ICT, Karlsruhe, Federal Republic Germany, June 28–July 1, 1994, p. 13.
- [87] Z. Jalovy, S. Zeman, M. Suceska, P. Vavra, K. Dudek, M. Rajic, 3,3-Trinitroazetidine (TNAZ). Part I. Syntheses and Properties, J. Energ. Mater. 19 (2001) 219–239.
- [88] T.G. Archibald, L.C. Garver, K. Baum, M.C. Cohen, Synthesis of polynitrocubane derivatives, J. Org. Chem. 54 (1989) 2869–2873.
- [89] V.P. Ivshin, M.S. Komelin, V.A. Tartakovskii, Synthesis of (±)-trans-1,2,3-tris(nitroamino)cyclopropane, Russ. J. Org. Chem. 35 (3) (1999) 466–467.
- [90] M. Geetha, U.R. Nair, D.B. Sarwade, G.M. Gore, S.N. Asthana, H. Singh, Studies on CL-20: the most powerful high energy material, J. Therm. Anal. Calorimetry 73 (2003) 913–922.
- [91] M.X. Zhang, P.E. Eaton, R. Gilardi, Hepta-octanitrocubanes, Angew. Chem. Int. 39 (2000) 401–404.
- [92] G. Michaell, I.G. Beadhan, H. Adams, A.P. Hutchinson, S. Nicklin, Synthesis of haptens and their protein conjugates for immunological determination of nitrate esters and nitramines, J. C. S. Perkin Trans 1 (2) (2000) 225–230.
- [93] B.M. Dobratz, The Insensitive High Explosive TATB: Development and Characterization – 1888 to 1994/LA-13014-H, UC-741, August 1995.
- [94] L.J. Bement, Application of Temperature Resistant Explosives to NASA Missions Symposium on Thermally Stable Explosives, Naval Ordnance Laboratory, White Oak, Maryland, USA, June 23–25, 1970.
- [95] R. Weinheimer, Properties of selected high explosives, in: Proceedings of the Eighteenth International Pyrotechnics, Seminar, July 13–17, 1992, p. 939.
- [96] M.L. Trudell, G. Subramanian, G. Eck, J.H. Boyer, Synthesis of high density insensitive energetic tetraazapentalene derivatives, Proc. Mater. Res. Soc. Symp. 418 (1996) 37.
- [97] P.E. Rouse Jr., Enthalpies of formation and calculated detonation properties of some thermally stable explosives, J. Chem. Eng. Data 21 (1) (1976) 16–20.
- [98] T. Urbanski, Chemistry and Technology of Explosives, vol. 1, Pergamon, PWN-Polish Scientific Publishers, Warzawa, 1965.
- [99] A.B. Sheremetev, The chemistry of furazans fused to six- and sevenmembered heterocycles with one heteroatom, Russ. Chem. Rev. 68 (1999) 137–148.

- [100] M.D. Coburn, J.L. Singleton, Picryl amino substituted heterocycles V. Pyridines, J. Heterocycl. Chem. 9 (1972) 1039–1040.
- [101] H.S. Jadhav, M.B. Talwar, D.D. Dhavale, S.N. Asthana, V.N. Krishnamurthy, Studies on PYX based thermally stable explosives: synthesis, characterization, thermolysis and performance evaluation, Ind. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 15 (4) (2006) 383–386.
- [102] H. Ritter, H.H. Licht, Synthesis and characterization of methylnitraminosubstituted pyridines and triazines, Propellants Explosives Pyrotechnics 18 (1993) 81–88.
- [103] M.D. Coburn, Explosives Synthesis at Los Alamos Proceedings of the American Defense Preparedness Association Compatibility of Plastics and Other materials with Explosives, Propellants, Pyrotechnics and Processing of Explosives, Propellants and Ingredients, Long Beach, California, 1986.
- [104] E.G. Kayser, Analysis methods for explosive materials. I. Polynitro compounds, J. Energ. Mater. 1 (1983) 251–273.
- [105] D.M. Badgujar, P.P. Mahulikar, M.B. Talawar, G.M. Gore, S.N. Asthana, 1,2-[Bis-(2,4,6-trinitrophenyl)]hydrazine—synthesis, characterization, thermal stability and explosive behavior, in: Proceedings of the 5th International High Energy Materials Conference and Exhibit (HEMCE), Hyderabad, India, November 19–21, 2005.
- [106] J.C. Kauer, R.A. Carboni, Aromatic azapentalenes. 111.1,3a, 6,6atetraazapentalenes, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 89 (1967) 2633–2637.
- [107] G.A. Olah, R. Malhotra, S.C. Narang, Nitration Methods and Mechanism, VCH, New York, 1989.
- [108] H. Zollinger, Color Chemistry; Properties and Applications of Dyes, 2nd ed., John Wiley, New York, 1991.
- [109] R. Meyer, J. Kholar, A. Homburg, Explosives, 5th ed., John Wiley, New York, 2002.
- [110] S. Samajdar, F.B. Frederick, K.B. Bimal, Montmorrilonite impregnated with bismuth nitrate: a versatile reagent for the synthesis of nitro compounds of biological significance, ARKIVOC 8 (2000) 27–33.
- [111] M.A. Zolfigol, B.F. Mirjalili, A. Bamoniri, M. Ali, K. Zarchi, A. Zarei, L. Khadooz, J. Noei, Nitration of aromatic compounds on silica sulfuric acid, Bull. Kor. Chem. Soc. 25 (2004) 1414–1416.
- [112] P. Laszlo, Preparative Chemistry Using Supported Reagents, 2nd ed., Academic Press, London, 1987.
- [113] S. Samajdar, F.F. Becker, B.K. Banik, Surface mediated highly efficient regioselective nitration of aromatic compounds by bismuth nitrate, Tetrahedron Lett. 41 (2000) 8017–8020.
- [114] H.A. Muathen, Selective nitration of aromatic compounds with bismuth subnitrate and thionyl chloride, Molecules 8 (2003) 593–958.
- [115] E. Baciocchi, R. Ruzziconi, Free Radicals in Synthesis and Biology, Kluwer Academic, Dordecht, 1989.
- [116] M.A. Zolfigol, E. Madrakin, E. Ghaemi, Silica sulphuric acid/NaNO₂ as novel heterogeneous system for the nitration of phenols under mild conditions, Molecules 7 (2002) 734–742.
- [117] D.M. Badgujar, M.B. Talwar, S.N. Asthana, P.P. Mahulikar, Environmentally benign synthesis of aromatic nitro compounds using silica supported inorganic nitrates, J. Sci. Ind. Res. 66 (2007) 250–251.
- [118] M.B. Talawar, R. Sivabalan, B.G. Polke, U.R. Nair, G.M. Gore, S.N. Asthana, Establishment of process technology for the manufacture of dinitrogen pentoxide and its utility for nitration of precursors of the most powerful explosive of today – CL-20, J. Hazard. Mater. 124 (2005) 153–164.
- [119] W.R. Tomlinson, G. Ottoson, L.F. Audrietc, Explosive properties of metal amines, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71 (1949) 375–376.
- [120] T.B. Joyner, Explosive sensitivity of cobalt (III) complexes, Can. J. Chem. 47 (1969) 2729–2730.
- [121] V.P. Sinditskii, V.V. Serushkin, Design and combustion behavior of explosive coordination compounds, Def. Sci. J. 46 (1996) 371–383.
- [122] M.L. Liberman, J.W. Fronabarger, Status of the development of 2-(5cyanotetrazolato) pentaammine cobalt (III) perchlorate for DDT devices, in: Proceedings of the 7th International Pyrotechnic Seminar, Colorado, July 1980, pp. 322–355.
- [123] J.W. Fronabarger, M.L. Libeman, Performance of chemical analogs of the explosive CP, Explosive and Pyrotechnics, Philadelphia, 1981, pp. 38-1–38-14.

- [124] A.E. Fogelzang, V. Egorshev Yu, V.P. Sinditski, V.V. Scrushkin, A. Saklanty, A study of burning behavior of chemical analogs of explosive CP, in: Proceedings of the 18th International Pyrotechnic Seminar, Colorado, 1992, pp. 303–320.
- [125] H. Krier, S.S. Gokhale, Model of convective mode combustion through granulated propellant to predict detonation transition, AIAA J. 16 (1978) 177–183.
- [126] L.M. Barker, R.E. Hollan Back, Laser interferometer for measuring high velocities of any reflecting surface, J. Appl. Phys. 43 (11) (1972) 4669–4675.
- [127] A.C. Schwarz, R.W. Bicks, Feasibility study of a semiconductor bridge (SCB) for initiating pyrotechnics and explosives, Sandia National Laboratories, New Mexico, Report No. SAND 86-3617, December 1986.
- [128] W. William, Tarball, Development and production of two explosive components using SCB Technology, Sandia National Laboratories, New Mexico, Report No. SAND94-2787C, 1994.
- [129] D.W. Ewick, S.L. Olson, G. Bates, S.P. Riley, D.A. Toro, Laser ignitable ignition composition and initiator devices and assemblies comprising the same, PCT Int. Appl. WO 1999/00343, 7 January 1999, International application No. PCT/US1998/012583.
- [130] M.B. Talawar, A.P. Agrawal, S.N. Asthana, Energetic coordination compounds: synthesis, characterization and thermolysis studies on bis-(5nitro-2*H*-tetrazolato-N²)tetraammine cobalt(III)perchlorate (BNCP) and its new transition metal (Ni/Cu/Zn) perchlorate analogues, J. Hazard. Mater. (Elsevier) 120 (2005) 25–35.
- [131] M.B. Talawar, A.P. Agrawal, J.S. Chhabra, C.K. Ghatak, S.N. Asthana, K.U.B. Rao, Studies on nickel hydrazinium nitrate (NHN) and bis-(5-nitro-2*H*-tetrazolato-N²)tetraamino cobalt(III) perchlorate (BNCP): potential lead free advanced primary explosives, J. Sci. Ind. Res. 63 (2004) 677–681.
- [132] K.C. Patil, R. Sunderrajan, V.R. Pai Vernekar, Synthesis and characterization of a new fluoride derivative of hydrazine, N2H5HF2, Inorg. Chem. 18 (7) (1979) 1969–1973.
- [133] S. Zhu, Y. Wu, W. Zhang, J. Mu, Evaluation of a new primary explosive: nickel hydrazine nitrate (NHN) complex, Propellant Explosive Pyrotechnics 22 (1997) 317–320.
- [134] B. Hariharanath, A.G. Rajendran, K.S. Chandrabhanu, M. Ravindran, C.B. Kartha, Characterization of nickel hydrazinium nitrate as a new charge for initiator applications, Proceedings of the 3rd International High Energy Materials Conference and Exhibit (India), 2000, p. 469.
- [135] J.S. Chhabra, M.B. Talawar, P.S. Makashir, S.N. Asthana, H. Singh, Synthesis, characterization and thermal studies on (Ni/Co) metal salts of hydrazine: potential initiatory compounds, J. Hazard. Mater. (Elsevier) A99 (2003) 225–239.
- [136] T. Zang, Z. Wei, C. Lu, J. Zang, Study on primary explosive GTG, Baopo Qicai 28 (3) (1999) 16–19 (Chinese).

- [137] C. Lu, T. Zang, L. Ren, K. Yu, Z. Lu, R. Cai, Preparation, molecular structure and explosive structure of [Co (NH2-NH-CO-NH-NH2)3 (C104)2, Huozhayao Xuebao (I) (2000) 1–33 (Chinese).
- [138] M.B. Talawar, A.P. Agrawal, J.S. Chhabra, S.N. Asthana, Studies on lead free initiators: synthesis, characterization and performance evaluation of transition metal complexes of carbohydrazide, J. Hazard. Mater. (Elsevier) A113 (2004) 57–65.
- [139] K. Kishore, M.R. Sunitha, Effect of transition metal oxides on decomposition and deflagration of composite solid propellant systems: a survey, AIAA J. 17 (10) (1979) 1118–1125.
- [140] G. Lengelle, J. Brolard, H. Moutet, Combustion mechanisms of composite solid propellants, in: Proceedings of the 16th International Symposium on Combustion, The Combustion Institute, Pittsburgh, PA, 1976, pp. 1257–1269.
- [141] T.L. Boggs, D.E. Zum, H.F. Cordes, J. Covino, Combustion of ammonium perchlorate with various inorganic additives, J. Propul. Power 4 (1) (1988) 27–40.
- [142] S. Krishnan, C. Periasamy, Low pressure burning of catalyzed composite propellants, AIAA J. 24 (10) (1986) 1670–1675.
- [143] G. Doriath, Energetic insensitive propellants for solid and ducted rockets, J. Propul. Power 11 (4) (1995) 870–882.
- [144] V.P. Sinditski, V.V. Seroshkin, Design and combustion behaviour of explosive co-ordination compounds, Def. Sci. J. 46 (5) (1996) 371–383.
- [145] T.S. Konkova, Yo.N. Matyushin, V.P. Sinditski, A.E. Fogelzang, Enthalpies of formation of 4-amino-1,2,4-diazole co-ordination compounds, Chem. Phys. Rep. 14 (6) (1995) 858–864.
- [146] A.A. Mallik, C. Park, G.E. Manser, Solvent free process for manufacture of energetic oxetane monomers, US Patent 5,523,424(1996).
- [147] W.H. Hsieh, A. Peretz, I.-T. Huang, K.K. Kuo, Combustion behavior of boron based BAMO/NMMO fuel-rich solid propellants, J. Propul. 7 (4) (1991) 497–504.
- [148] T. Miyazaki, N. Kubota, Energetics of BAMO, Propellants Explosives Pyrotechnics 17 (1992) 5–9.
- [149] N. Kubota, K. Katoh, G. Nakashita, Combustion mechanism of GAP/AN propellants, in: Proceedings of the 22nd Annual Conference of ICT, Karlsruhe, Germany, 1991.
- [150] M.H.H. Talukher, G.K. Lindsay, Synthesis and preliminary analysis of block co-polymers of BAMO-NIMMO, J. Polym. Sci. Part A: Polym. Chem. 28 (1990) 2393–2401.
- [151] M. Golfier, H. Graindorge, Y. Longivialle, H-Mace, new energetic molecules and their applications as the energetic materials, in: Proceedings of the 31st International Annual Conference of ICT, Karlsruhe, Federal Republic of Germany, 2000, pp. 3–17.
- [152] G. Kathrym Shipp, M.E. Hill, Acetal preparation in sulphuric acid, J. Org. Chem. 31 (1966) 853–856.
- [153] M.D. Coburn, Synthesis of 2-nitroalkyl vinyl ethers, Synthesis 8 (1977) 570.